In the
MISSISSIPPI COURT OF APPEALS
FOR THE FOURTH DISTRICT

NO. 2008-TS-00896

STERLING PITTMAN

Plaintiff-Appellant

VERSUS

DYKES TIMBER CO., INC.

Defendant-Appellee

Appeal from the Circuit Court of Simpson County, Mississippi

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-APPELLANT
STERLING PITTMAN

In the
MISSISSIPPI COURT OF APPEALS
FOR THE FOURTH DISTRICT

NO. 2008-TS-00896

STERLING PITTMAN

Plaintiff-Appellant

VERSUS

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

Jurisdiction in this case is proper as an Appeal from a Final Judgment of the Circuit Court in Simpson County.

In the
MISSISSIPPI COURT OF APPEALS
FOR THE FOURTH DISTRICT

NO. 2008-TS-00896

STERLING PITTMAN

Plaintiff-Appellant

VERSUS

DYKES TIMBER CO., INC.

Defendant-Appellee

ISSUES

1. Did the jury commit reversible error by failing to award damages pursuant to Miss. Code Ann. § 95-5-10. ?
2. Did the Court commit reversible error by refusing to allow Pittman to pursue claims for general damages?
3. Did the Court commit reversible error by refusing to allow Pittman to call defendant's expert witness on cross examination as part of plaintiff's case in chief prior to resting plaintiff's case?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

I.

COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS AND DISPOSITION IN COURT BELOW

Plaintiff-Appellant, Sterling Pittman, filed a Complaint on or about December 27, 2001 against Defendant-Appellee, Dykes Timber Company Inc., seeking to recover money damages as a result of the cutting of trees on his home site, and the destruction of much of the land constituting his home site along with structures and other property located therein. Pittman admits that on or about March of 2000, he contracted with Dykes for the limited cutting of only certain trees and in limited and specified areas or parcels of land due to Pittman's intent to continue developing the several contiguous parcels as separate dedicated specific use sections of one entire home site. However Pittman claims that Dykes intentionally and fraudulently violated the agreement, stealing trees they were not entitled to cut, and trespassing onto sections/parcels of plaintiff's home site and destroying the land and property located thereon, when this was not necessary or reasonable if Dykes had performed its obligations in good and workmanlike manner.

During the course of a jury trial conducted on April 11, 2008 via several evidentiary rulings, plaintiff was not allowed to put on evidence of his general damages or non-pecuniary damages, but essentially was limited to introducing evidence only of his pecuniary damages for specific damage to items of his property, and for statutory damages pursuant to Miss. Code Ann. § 95-5-10. At the conclusion of its deliberations, the jury returned a verdict in favor of Pittman for the sum of \$3,200.00 — a sum which patently included payment for special damages to Pittman's destroyed personal property per receipts in evidence, but did not include any award for statutory damages for the wrongfully cut timber. Judgment upon said verdict was entered by the Court on April 11, 2008 and filed by the clerk on April 15, 2008

Pittman timely appealed from said judgment.

II.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Pittman contracted with Dykes for the limited cutting of only certain trees and in limited and specified areas or parcels of land due to Pittman's intent to continue developing the several contiguous parcels as separate dedicated specific use sections of one entire home site¹. Ricky Bryant, an employee of Dykes negotiated directly with Pittman concerning the agreement. Prior to signing any documents, Pittman and Bryant expressly agreed to the following terms and conditions.

Plaintiff's home site was comprised of 3 adjacent parcels of land comprising a whole of 5.45 acres². These were:

- a) a 1 acre lot with a house trailer and a surrounding yard;
- b) a 3.83 acre pasture to pasture horses and to raise chickens, with an invaluable and irreplaceable chicken house/barn made of authentic sequoia redwood³, and numerous "tepees" for raising chickens; and
- c) a 1.62 acre tract with an area of young small "chip and saw" pine trees [which Pittman agreed to sell]⁴, and bordered on its farthest side at the edge of the home site by a stand of larger, old growth trees [which were not to be cut or sold] including^a:
 - a) 40 pines in excess of 1 foot in diameter;
 - b) 35 oaks which were approximately 80 yrs. old; and
 - c) 4 pines which were approximately 80 - 100 yrs. old; and
 - d) 1 very large pecan tree⁵.

Pittman and Bryant specifically agreed that only the "chip and saw" pines on the 1 1.62 acre parcel would be cut and sold, and that no harvesting would take place without Pittman being

^aThese are listed thus for convenience. In fact, the pecan tree and a couple of the very large, old pine trees were located on either the 1 acre or the 3.83 acre tracts.

present to ensure that only the proper trees would be taken⁶. The trees to be left were of paramount importance for Mr. Pittman's home site. The stand of large old growth trees were to serve both as a visual barrier or fence line closing off and isolating Pittman's home site from Hwy. 49, and as the continued home for a large colony of squirrels, Pittman's favorite delicacy⁷. Finally, they specifically agreed that ingress and egress would be effectuated from Hwy. 49, which required only a 50 foot transit from the highway to the trees to be cut⁸.

After the foregoing was agreed to, Bryant brought Pittman to a bank to have a written contract signed before a notary. As soon as Pittman signed the document and it was notarized, Bryant snatched the document and left with it — refusing to allow Pittman to read it or to give him a copy. Instead Bryant promised to get a copy to Pittman the next day. As of the date of trial, Pittman never had been provided with the original document or a verified copy of same⁹.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, Dykes intentionally and fraudulently violated the agreement, stealing trees they were not entitled to cut, and trespassing onto sections/parcels of plaintiff's home site and destroying the land and property located thereon, when this was not necessary or reasonable if Dykes had performed its obligations in good and workmanlike manner. Specifically, Ricky Bryant waited until he knew that Pittman was offshore working for a week and then sent in the Dykes crew with the intent of cutting down every living tree on the entire 5.45 acre home site. Pittman returned home before Dykes could complete this, and to his shock he discovered that Dykes already had cut down essentially every tree except the stand of "chip and saw" pines¹⁰. Moreover, rather than ingressing the site the 50 feet via Hwy. 49¹¹, the Dykes crew brought in their skidders and heavy equipment several hundred yards via E. Main St. causing the following devastation¹²:

- a) drove over, knocked down and destroyed a new wooden fence fronting E. Main St. for the front yard of the lot with his house¹³;
- b) crushed a sewer line and septic tank¹⁴, and created huge ruts from E. Main all into and all over all sections of each parcel of land, making the property essentially

unfit for any normal vehicle or equipment to traverse [short of heavy equipment such as the skidders used by Dykes]¹⁵;

- c) knocked down the main power line feeder to the house disconnecting electricity to the structure and ruining a freezer full of food¹⁶;
- d) crushed and destroyed the redwood henhouse¹⁷;
- e) bull dozed all of Pittman's barbed wire and chicken wire fence stock and the tepees [into the pond]¹⁸.

When the Dykes crew returned to Pittman's place to finish their work and finally to cut down the only remaining trees [i.e. the stand of chip and saw pines], he ran them off. Pittman tried in vain to contact Dykes to have his concerns about the foregoing violations addressed¹⁹. Eventually he was forced to retain counsel and to file suit in the captioned matter. Pittman's damages did not stop there. As a direct result of Dykes's trespass and destruction of his home site, he was unable to move into his planned new home, and was required to remain in a ramshackle old trailer where he "watches the sun come up through holes in the floor²⁰." When his fiancé arrived and saw his living conditions, she broke down in tears and after a couple of days, left him and went home for good. Lacking the funds to restore his home site, he remained living in sub-human conditions with the company of only his dog and his chickens. Eventually, the almost all of his chickens died or were killed by predators due to the substandard conditions in which he has been stranded²¹.

III.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

1. Did the jury commit reversible error by failing to award damages pursuant to Miss. Code Ann. § 95-5-10. ?

THE JURY COMMITTED REVERSIBLE ERROR BY NOT AWARDING STATUTORY DAMAGES, AS PLAINTIFF'S PAROLE EVIDENCE WAS ADMITTED AND UNCONTRADICTED CONCERNING THE AGREEMENT ONLY TO SELL CERTAIN TREES AND THE NUMBER AND SIZE OF TREES IMPROPERLY TAKEN

2. Did the Court commit reversible error by refusing to allow Pittman to pursue claims for general damages?

BECAUSE PLAINTIFF PROVED BOTH FRAUD AND TRESPASS, REFUSAL TO ADMIT PLAINTIFF'S EVIDENCE OF GENERAL DAMAGES WAS REVERSIBLE ERROR

3. Did the Court commit reversible error by refusing to allow Pittman to call defendant's expert witness on cross examination as part of plaintiff's case in chief prior to resting plaintiff's case?

DEFENDANT HAD LISTED AN EXPERT FORESTER AS A WITNESS AND SINCE HE WAS PRESENT IN COURT FOR TRIAL, PLAINTIFF WAS ENTITLED TO CALL DEFENDANT'S EXPERT WITNESS ON CROSS

IV.

ARGUMENT

1. Did the jury commit reversible error by failing to award damages pursuant to Miss. Code Ann. § 95-5-10. ?

THE JURY COMMITTED REVERSIBLE ERROR BY NOT AWARDING STATUTORY DAMAGES, AS PLAINTIFF'S PAROLE EVIDENCE WAS ADMITTED AND UNCONTRADICTED CONCERNING THE AGREEMENT ONLY TO SELL CERTAIN TREES AND THE NUMBER AND SIZE OF TREES IMPROPERLY TAKEN

During trial it was hotly contested as to whether a document introduced by Dykes was an actual copy of the document Pittman signed²². Additionally, the Court noted on the record that the document was vague and ambiguous, requiring the admission of Pittman's parole evidence as to the specific details of the agreement negotiated by Pittman and Bryant on behalf of Dykes²³. Specifically, the property description in the document makes reference to a 1/4 section of a 1/4 section (i.e. 10 acres), but it does say that the amount of land is 1.62 acres.

Moreover, all of the foregoing factual allegations in support of Pittman's case were proved by live testimony and photographic evidence. Plaintiff had so many photographs and even a video tape, that defense counsel contended that much of it would have been cumulative, and accordingly, the undersigned accommodated defense counsel's concern and limited the amount of photographic evidence to a number of representative photographs, rather than insisting on forcing the jury to watch a long and boring video tape and to sift through pictures of each and every tree stump at issue²⁴. Plaintiff testified live as to each and every fact at issue, and his testimony was neither impeached nor rebutted by any other witness or evidence. Much of Pittman's testimony was corroborated by 2 other live witnesses, Clinton Thames and Rockford Pittman. The testimony of these 2 corroborating witnesses was neither impeached nor rebutted by any other witness or evidence.

Dykes did not call Ricky Bryant to refute Pittman's story which remained unchanged from his Complaint, to his pre trial deposition, and to his trial testimony. The fact that Dykes did not call Bryant assuredly allows the inference that Bryant's testimony would not have been favorable.

Dykes merely called its owner, Robert Dykes. If anything, Mr. Dykes was helpful to Pittman's case. He sat through the entire trial as the defense representative. He admitted that he was not an eyewitness to anything which Mr. Pittman testified to, and that he could not directly contradict anything that Pittman testified to. Additionally, he could not swear under oath that the document Dykes had purported to be the contract in question was either the original, or an exact copy, and he only could assume that the signature was Pittman's. Finally, he admitted that he never personally visited or inspected Pittman's property²⁵.

Considering the foregoing, any reasonable jury necessarily was required to award statutory damages for the trees improperly taken. In Pittman's case these damages included: (a) double the fair market value for each tree; and (b) an additional statutory penalty of either \$55 or \$10 for each tree based upon its size; and (c) \$250/acre for deforestation. Plaintiff respectfully submits that the lowest reasonable awards based upon the evidence presented would be \$34,062.50:

- a) **40 pines in excess of 1 foot in diameter - \$8,600;**
 - 1) Double Market Value - \$80 ea. x 2 = \$160/tree x 40 trees = \$6,400
 - 2) Additional Penalty - \$55 ea. x 40 = \$2,200
- b) **35 oaks which were approximately 80 yrs. old - \$19,425;**
 - 1) Double Market Value - \$250 ea. x 2 = \$500/tree x 35 trees = \$17,500
 - 2) Additional Penalty - \$55 ea. x 35 = \$1,925
- c) **4 pines which were approximately 80 - 100 yrs. old - \$2,620;**
 - 1) Double Market Value - \$300 ea. x 2 = \$600/tree x 4 trees = \$2,400
 - 2) Additional Penalty - \$55 ea. x 4 = \$220
- d) **1 very large pecan tree - \$2,055**
 - 1) Double Market Value - \$1,000 ea. x 2 = \$2,000/tree x 1 tree = \$2,000
 - 2) Additional Penalty - \$55 ea. x 1 = \$55
- e) **Deforestation \$1,363.50.**
 - 5.45 acres x \$250 = \$1,362.50

2. Did the Court commit reversible error by refusing to allow Pittman to pursue claims for general damages?

BECAUSE PLAINTIFF PROVED BOTH FRAUD AND TRESPASS, REFUSAL TO ADMIT PLAINTIFF'S EVIDENCE OF GENERAL DAMAGES WAS REVERSIBLE ERROR

As stated, *supra*, any reasonable juror necessarily was bound to accept the only credible and uncontradicted evidence introduced at trial. This clearly showed that in addition to the statutory special damages pursuant to Miss. Code Ann. § 95-5-10 for the improper taking of timber, defendant committed fraudulent conversion and trespassing onto sections/parcels of plaintiff's home site and destroying the land and property located thereon, when this was not necessary or reasonable if Dykes had performed its obligations in good and workmanlike manner. Pittman respectfully submits that Dykes should be liable for plaintiff's general damages based upon the foregoing and general tort liability.

3. Did the Court commit reversible error by refusing to allow Pittman to call defendant's expert witness on cross examination as part of plaintiff's case in chief prior to resting plaintiff's case?

DEFENDANT HAD LISTED AN EXPERT FORESTER AS A WITNESS AND SINCE HE WAS PRESENT IN COURT FOR TRIAL, PLAINTIFF WAS ENTITLED TO CALL DEFENDANT'S EXPERT WITNESS ON CROSS

Notwithstanding the fact that Pittman did, in fact, present an un-rebutted *prime facie* case as set forth, *supra* — out of an abundance of caution, prior to resting his case in chief, plaintiff sought to call a witness, Les Shelby, a Forester retained by Dykes. Mr. Shelby was present in court and available to testify. Dykes objected when plaintiff called Mr. Shelby and the Court sustained Dykes's objection, preventing plaintiff from calling Mr. Shelby²⁶.

Under the circumstances, Pittman should have been allowed to call Shelby, and Dykes's objection should have been overruled. First of all, Mr. Shelby was present and available to testify. Just because plaintiff had not served Shelby with a subpoena to compel his appearance in court for trial testimony does not mean plaintiff should not have been allowed to call him when he appeared in court voluntarily without the necessity of a subpoena. Plaintiff should not be forced to expend the time and money to have a witness served with a subpoena if plaintiff

understands that defendant and the witness have made arrangements for the witness to appear voluntarily. This is especially true when considering the equities of the case *sub judice*. For years prior to trial, Pittman had been severely disabled, unemployed and destitute²⁷. He lived in a hovel and frequently was forced to go without food or medicine. At times he was reduced to eating from garbage cans. The uncontradicted evidence showed that Dykes's misconduct had destroyed Pittman's home site, scared off his fiancé, and that they owed him a great deal of money when he most needed it. It would be a travesty to expect or to require this poor man to have the resources to hire his own expert witness forester, especially when he was willing and able to rely upon Mr. Shelby who already was present and available to testify.

In addition to the foregoing equitable justification to have allowed Pittman to call Shelby, conventionally accepted procedure long has recognized a party's right to call an hostile witness or a defendant or a defense witness on cross examination, or "under the rule." To the extent that there may be any objection contemplated by either the jury or this Court concerning the fact that Pittman did not put on evidence from an "expert witness," this certainly would have been cured by allowing Pittman to have called Shelby during his case in chief and prior to resting. Plaintiff respectfully submits that the refusal to do so constituted reversible error.

CONCLUSION

The uncontested evidence showed that Dykes sneaked on to Mr. Pittman's land when they knew he was working offshore, in violation of an agreement that no timber would be cut unless he were there. Not only did they steal valuable and aesthetic old growth timber instead of merely harvesting only the young small "chip and saw" pine trees from a limited 1/62 acre tract which it had paid for — but they even cut down almost every other tree on two adjacent tracts of land and in the process Mr. Pittman's green acres homestead was rendered into a briar patch. Although the jury rendered a verdict in plaintiff's favor, it was unreasonably low as a result of several elements of reversible error which occurred during trial. First of all, the jury committed reversible error by not awarding statutory damages, as plaintiff's parole evidence was admitted

and uncontradicted concerning the agreement only to sell certain trees and the number and size of trees improperly taken. In addition, because plaintiff proved both fraud and trespass, refusal to admit plaintiff's evidence of general damages was reversible error. Finally, since an expert forester, Mr. Shelby, was present in court for trial and available to testify, plaintiff was entitled to call Shelby, an expert witness, on cross examination.