IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

STERLING PITTMAN

APPELLANT

V.

CASE NO. 2008-TS-00896

DYKES TIMBER COMPANY, INC.

APPELLEE

BRIEF OF DYKES TIMBER COMPANY, INC. APPELLEE

ORAL ARGUMENT NOT REQUESTED

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF SIMPSON COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

William M. Vines, MSB #9902
T. L. "Smith" Boykin, III, MSB
PAGE, KRUGER & HOLLAND, P.A.
10 Canebrake Blvd., Ste. 200
Post Office Box 1163
Jackson, Mississippi 39215
(601) 420-0333 (telephone)
(601) 420-0033 (facsimile)

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE DYKES TIMBER COMPANY, INC.

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

STERLING PITTMAN

APPELLANT

V.

CASE NO. 2008-TS-00896

DYKES TIMBER CO., INC.

APPELLEE

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Each and every one of the arguments raised on appeal by Mr. Pittman is procedurally barred from consideration. However, even if this Court ignores the procedural bars, the Court should affirm the judgment of the lower court. There is no basis for Mr. Pittman's claim that the trial court abused its discretion in refusing to allow him to call Dykes Timber's expert in his own case-in-chief. With regard to the alleged improper jury instructions and evidentiary rulings, these arguments are devoid of merit insofar as Mr. Pittman's counsel affirmatively represented to the trial court that this was only a property damage case. Mr. Pittman cannot show that the trial court committed reversible error in any evidentiary rulings or jury instructions that focused the trial on its sole subject – property damage. Finally, given the bias and/or incredible testimony offered by Mr. Pittman, coupled with the absence of any evidence establishing the fair market value of the timber, Mr. Pittman cannot show that the verdict of \$3,200.00 was against the overwhelming weight of the evidence. Accordingly, this Court should affirm the judgment of the lower court.

<u>ARGUMENT</u>

A. STANDARDS OF REVIEW

Given the number and nature of the issues presented on appeal, this Court is to apply various standards of review. To the extent that Mr. Pittman challenges the trial court's evidentiary rulings, including those involving the inclusion/exclusion of expert testimony, the same must constitute an abuse of discretion to allow for reversal. Alternatively, should this Court review the trial court's instruction of the jury for error, such instruction may only serve as a basis for reversal if the entire set of instructions presented to the jury fails to fairly announce the primary rules of law applicable to the

¹ Canadian Nat'l/Ill. Cent. R.R. Co. v. Hall, 953 So. 2d 1084, 1094 (¶ 29) (Miss. 2007).

case.² Finally, to the extent that this Court examines the trial court's decision to enter judgment on the jury's verdict in this matter, such a decision may only be reversed if the evidence is so indisputably in Mr. Pittman's favor on a particular issue that it should never have been sent to the jury.³ However, since Mr. Pittman cannot meet any of these standards, this Court must affirm the judgment entered by the trial court.

B. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN REFUSING TO ALLOW MR. PITTMAN TO CALL DYKES TIMBER'S EXPERT IN HIS OWN CASE-IN-CHIEF

There are at least four reasons why Mr. Pittman is procedurally barred from appealing the trial court's refusal to let him adversely call defense expert Les Shelby in his case-in-chief. First, Mr. Pittman's failure to make a proffer of the testimony expected from Mr. Shelby means that Mr. Pittman failed to preserve the issue for appeal. Second, with only an off-the-record discussion held as to the issue, Mr. Pittman is unable to offer any citation to the Record in support of his argument that the trial court committed error on this issue, barring his ability to raise this issue on appeal. Third, Mr. Pittman's brief fails to offer any citation to any legal authority in support of his argument on this issue, which also means he is barred from raising this issue on appeal.

² Hall, 953 So. 2d at 1099-1100 (¶ 57).

³ White v. Stewman, 932 So. 2d 27, 32 (¶ 11) (Miss. 2006). Unlike standards concerning evidentiary decisions and jury instructions, this examination involves a de novo examination of the evidence presented to the lower court. See Hall, 953 So. 2d at 1092 (¶ 19). In doing so, this Court is to view that evidence in the light most favorable to Dykes Timber, giving it the benefit of all available inferences, and is to affirm the verdict so long as there is substantial evidence in support of it. See id.

⁴ See Redhead v. Entergy Miss., Inc., 828 So. 2d 801, 813 (¶ 37) (Miss. Ct. App. 2001) (failure to make proffer of expert testimony bars issue from appellate consideration); Miss. R. Evid. 103 (error may not be predicated on evidentiary ruling without objection or offer of proof).

⁵ See Point South Land Trust v. Gutierrez, 997 So. 2d 967, 977 (¶ 29) (Miss. 2008) (matter not on record cannot support appellate arguments); Albert v. Allied Glove Corp., 944 So. 2d 1, 7 (¶ 21) (Miss. 2006) (argument not reflected in trial record may not be raised on appeal); see also Miss. R. App. P.28(a)(6) (parties must cite to part of record relied upon).

⁶ See Boutwell v. Boutwell, 829 So. 2d 1216, 1223 (\P 29) (Miss. 2002); R.C. Petroleum, Inc. v. Hernandez, 555 So. 2d 1017, 1023 (Miss. 1990); see also Miss. R. App. P.28(a)(6) (parties must cite to authorities relied upon).

Finally, Mr. Pittman never designated any experts during discovery. Therefore, he cannot reasonably contend the trial court abused its discretion in disallowing his request to call Mr. Shelby as a witness in his case-in-chief.⁷ For all of these reasons, the trial court's refusal to allow Mr. Pittman to call Mr. Shelby in his case-in-chief cannot serve as any basis for reversal.

C. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN REFUSING TO ALLOW MR. PITTMAN TO PURSUE CLAIMS FOR "GENERAL DAMAGES"

In his second issue on appeal, Mr. Pittman claims that trial court erred in refusing to let him pursue a claim for "general damages." However, he fails to specify exactly what damages he contends should have been recoverable. Further, Mr. Pittman's contradictory arguments in support of this issue do not reveal whether Mr. Pittman claims that the error lies in unspecified evidentiary rulings of the trial court or the instructions presented to the jury. Regardless, Mr. Pittman's failure to cite any legal authorities or points in the record in support of his arguments bars the issue from consideration. Notwithstanding, separate analyses of the issue shows his argument(s) to be without merit, even though subject to additional procedural bars.

1. The trial court did not abuse its discretion with regard to any evidentiary rulings.

While Mr. Pittman claims the trial court erred with regard to certain evidentiary rulings, he fails to identify any specific ruling which he calls into question. Moreover, the record is void of a single proffer made in response to any evidentiary ruling. For these reasons, and his failure to offer any supportive citation to any legal authority, he is procedurally barred from pursuing this argument on appeal. Regardless, Mr. Pittman has not explained how or why the trial court erred in excluding any evidence of these undefined "general damages." Mr. Pittman's own counsel affirmatively

⁷ See generally Banks v. Hill, 978 So. 2d 663, 665 (\P 6) (Miss. 2008) (citing principle before finding trial court in error for allowing party to call undisclosed/undesignated witness in rebuttal).

⁸ See Boutwell, 829 So. 2d at 1223 (¶ 29); R.C. Petroleum, 555 So. 2d at 1023; Miss. R. App. P. 28(a)(6).

represented that this was merely a property damage case.¹¹ If this was merely a property damage case – as claimed by Mr. Pittman at trial – then general damages were not relevant to begin with.

2. The trial court did not err in its instruction of the jury.

Since a jury can only apply the law upon which it is instructed, the only other way to examine this alleged source of error is to analyze the jury instructions issued by the trial court. The trial court instructed the jury as to the proper manner for calculating Mr. Pittman's damages, if any, through Instructions D-5, D-9, D-10, and D-12. Mr. Pittman did not object to any of these instructions. Furthermore, while he submitted D-10 himself (after it was withdrawn by Dykes Timber), he did not submit any other instructions concerning the proper categories of damages or manner in which to calculate the same, much less one concerning "general damages." Therefore, Mr. Pittman failed to preserve this argument for appeal. Notwithstanding, this argument is also without merit, as – again – Mr. Pittman's counsel specifically represented to the trial court that this was a property damage case – a topic which is appropriately covered by the above-referenced instructions.

D. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN ENTERING JUDGMENT ON THE JURY VERDICT INSOFAR AS IT REFLECTED THE APPLICATION OF MISS CODE ANN. § 95-5-10

Like his other arguments, Mr. Pittman's claim of jury error is subject to numerous procedural bars. Further, he waived any challenge to the form of the verdict issued by the trial court and utilized by the jury in rendering its decision. Regardless, Mr. Pittman can not show that the jury's verdict is against the overwhelming weight of the evidence. Therefore, this issue is without merit.

⁹ In fact, the Record on appeal is void of any of the evidence in this matter. No exhibits or evidence were included, leaving only the Clerks Papers and Trial Transcript as sources for support.

¹⁰ See Redhead, 828 So. 2d at 813 (¶ 37); Miss. R. Evid. 103; Miss. R. App. P. 28(a)(6).

¹¹ See Hall, 953 So. 2d at 1094 (\P 29) (noting discretion given to trial courts in evidentiary rulings); Miss. R. Evid. 401, 402 (inconsequential facts are not admissible).

¹² See Crews v. Mahaffey, 986 So. 2d 987, 999 (¶ 44) (Miss. Ct. App. 2007) (failure to object to instruction bars appeal based upon its presentation); see generally Cooper v. Lawson, 264 So. 2d 890, 891 (Miss. 1972) (trial court can not be in error on issue not presented to it for decision).

¹³ See Hall, 953 So. 2d at 1099-1100 (¶ 57) (noting evidentiary basis must exist for instructions).

1. Mr. Pittman's argument is subject to certain procedural bars.

Mr. Pittman's argument is subject to several procedural bars. Failing to move the trial court for a judgment notwithstanding the verdict (or, alternatively, for a new trial), he did not preserve the issue for appeal. Moreover, his repeated failure to offer citation to any legal authorities dooms the claim, even had it been preserved. Similarly, Mr. Pittman is procedurally barred from relying on evidence that was **not ever submitted at trial**, such as his alleged video tape, extra photographs, or even his figures concerning the alleged fair market value of certain trees. 16

2. Moreover, Mr. Pittman waived any defect with regard to the form of the jury verdict.

Given his failure to object to the verdict form and/or supply a special verdict form, Mr. Pittman waived his ability to challenge the jury's determination of damages.¹⁷ It is not disputed that the trial court properly instructed the jury as to the compensatory damages available to Mr. Pittman if Dykes Timber were found to have improperly cut his timber: double the fair market value of the tree(s), plus up to \$250.00 per acre in reforestation costs.¹⁸

Additionally, if Dykes Timber were found to have wrongfully cut the timber in either a willful or reckless manner, the jury could assess an additional statutory penalty of either \$55.00 or \$10.00 per tree, depending upon the size of the tree. ¹⁹ The jury was also instructed that the Plaintiff could recover the fair market value of any other negligently or intentionally damaged property.

¹⁴ Cooper, 264 So. 2d 890, 891 (Miss. 1972); see also Albert, 944 So. 2d at 7 (¶21); Delaughter v. Lawrence Cty. Hosp., 601 So. 2d 818, 820 (Miss. 1992) (holding that appellant who failed to seek new trial through motion with trial court may not seek review of jury verdict on appeal).

¹⁵ See Boutwell, 829 So. 2d at 1223 (¶ 29); R.C. Petroleum, 555 So. 2d at 1023; Miss. R. App. P. 28(a)(6). 16 See Haggerty v. Foster, 838 So. 2d 948, 954 (¶ 7) (Miss. 2003) (jury verdict is to be based on evidence presented at trial); see also Point South Land Trust, 997 So. 2d at 977 (¶ 29); see generally Hall, 953 So. 2d at 1092 (¶ 19) (appellate court is to consider evidence presented to the jury in examining its verdict).

¹⁷ See White, 932 So. 2d at 37 (¶ 29) (party must object to verdict form in order to raise error as to same); Jones v. Westinghouse Elec. Corp., 694 So. 2d 1249, 1251 (Miss. 1997) (party waives challenge regarding determination of specific issues upon failure to submit specific issue(s) to jury or object to same).

¹⁸ See Miss. Code Ann. § 95-5-10.

¹⁹ See id.

The form of the verdict utilized by the jury, and to which Mr. Pittman did not object, states "[w]e, the jury, find for the Plaintiff, and assess damages at \$______." Therefore, there is no way to dissect the \$3,200.00 verdict to determine either the manner in which the jury found Dykes Timber liable or the manner in which it calculated damages; and Mr. Pittman may not claim any corresponding error on appeal.²⁰

3. Procedural bars aside, Mr. Pittman cannot show that the jury erred in rendering its verdict.

To succeed on this issue, procedural bars aside, Mr. Pittman must show that the evidence in his favor as to liability and damages was so substantially in his favor that it was not necessary to even present the issue to the jury. To recover the full measure of damages for the wrongful cutting of timber, Mr. Pittman had to prove: 1) the number of trees cut; 2) the acreage of the area that would need to be reforestation; and 3) the fair market value of the trees cut. To recover additional statutory penalties, Mr. Pittman would have needed to prove that Dykes Timber's crew willfully and in reckless disregard for Mr. Pittman's rights, cut trees that they were not supposed to cut under the command or consent of their principal, Mr. Bob Dykes, the president of Dykes Timber. However, as this Court must defer to the jury's verdict and resolve every permissible inference from the evidence in favor of Dykes Timber, Mr. Pittman can not meet his burden on appeal.

Mr. Pittman incorrectly claims that the jury was required to accept the testimony he presented, as well as that of Clinton Thames (to whom Mr. Pittman owes \$10,000.00) and Rockford Pittman (Mr. Pittman's brother). In reality, the jury was free to consider the bias of any of these

²⁰ See White, 932 So. 2d at 37 (¶ 29); Jones, 694 So. 2d at 1251.

²¹ See White, 932 So. 2d at 32 (¶ 11).

²² See Miss. Code Ann. § 95-5-10.

²³ See id.

²⁴ See Bobby Kitchens, Inc. v. Miss. Ins. Guar. Ass'n, 560 So. 2d 129, 131 (Miss. 1989).

witnesses and/or their lack of credibility.²⁵ Notwithstanding the biases of Rockford Pittman and Mr. Thames, Mr. Pittman himself gave the jury several reasons to question his credibility:

- his assertion that Dykes Timber removed some trees of over one foot in diameter with a
 mythical device that cuts them from below the ground without leaving a stump;
- 2) his reference to his own excessive use of narcotics necessitated by an unrelated physical injury as a means to escape responsibility for his previous deposition testimony;
- 3) his warning to counsel for Dykes Timber not to point to a spot on Mr. Pittman's selfdrawn map which represented the "sacred ground" upon which he buried his dog;
- 4) his apparent assertion that Dykes Timber had agreed to only enter his property by "helicopter" and/or by trucks outfitted with "marshmallow tires;"
- 5) his open profession to cannibalism and having previously consumed human flesh; or
- 6) the several instances in which the trial court had to admonish Mr. Pittman for his lack of cooperation and/or similar misconduct during his testimony.

Having viewed the testimony and conduct of Mr. Pittman and his two witnesses, the jury was free to believe or disbelieve them.²⁶

Also, despite Mr. Pittman's claims to the contrary, video, photographic, and other evidence not presented to the jury are not proof of error in the jury's determination of liability and damages under Miss. Code Ann. § 95-5-10.²⁷ Mr. Pittman did not produce an ounce of testimony or evidence concerning the fair market value of the trees alleged to have been wrongfully cut. Similarly, he did not produce any testimony or evidence concerning the acreage of the area to be reforested. In

²⁵ See Denson v. George, 642 So. 2d 909, 914 (Miss. 1994); Hollaway v. Hollaway, 631 So. 2d 127, 132-33 (Miss. 1993); Alldread v. Bailey, 626 So. 2d 99, 102 (Miss. 1993) (all noting fact finders are free to disbelieve even uncontradicted testimony if found to lack credibility).

²⁶ See Denson, 642 So. 2d at 914; Hollaway, 631 So. 2d at 132-33; Alldread, 626 So. 2d 102.

²⁷ See Haggerty, 838 So. 2d at 954 (¶ 7). In other words, contrary to Mr. Pittman's suggestion, video, photographic, and other evidence not presented to the jury can not be probative of jury error.

addition, neither Mr. Thames nor Rockford Pittman corroborated Mr. Pittman's own contradictory count of the number of trees alleged to have been improperly cut. Further, Mr. Pittman admitted that he did not present photographic or other proof of the full amount of trees alleged to have been improperly cut. Thus, notwithstanding the procedural bars noted above, Mr. Pittman cannot show error in the jury's determination of liability and/or damages under Miss. Code Ann. § 95-5-10.²⁸

This same reasoning fully rebuts Mr. Pittman's claim that he was entitled to additional statutory penalties under Miss. Code Ann. § 95-5-10. To be so entitled, Mr. Pittman was required to prove that Dykes Timber employees willfully, knowingly, and recklessly cut trees that they were not supposed to cut under Bob Dykes' command or with his consent. Mr. Pittman, Mr. Thames, and Rockford Pittman each admitted that they were not present during Dykes Timber's removal operations. Furthermore, Mr. Pittman did not call any Dykes Timber employees to testify in this regard; nor did his counsel examine Mr. Dykes on the subject at trial. Therefore, and – again – procedural bars aside, Mr. Pittman's lack of evidence on the subject renders him incapable of showing any error in the jury's verdict.²⁹

CONCLUSION

Given the numerous procedural bars to each issue presented by Mr. Pittman, examination of the merits in this matter is not necessary. However, even if this Court overlooks the procedural bars to engage in such examination, Mr. Pittman has not provided any evidentiary basis upon which this

²⁸ See Haggerty, 838 So. 2d at 954 (¶7); see also Teasley v. Buford, 876 So. 2d 1070, 1079-80 (¶¶21 and 25) (Miss. Ct. App. 2004) (plaintiff must prove number of trees cut, their fair market value, and area to be reforested to collect full statutory damages under Miss. Code Ann. § 95-5-10). Again, however, because only a general verdict form was presented to the jury, no one can determine whether such damages were awarded and/or the basis for the same.

²⁹ See Haggerty, 838 So. 2d at 954 (¶7); see also Miller v. Pannell, 815 So. 2d 1117, 1121-22 (¶¶ 14-17) (Miss. 2002) (examining various examples of proof of reckless conduct marked by evidence of explanation for improper cutting of timber and/or evidence of instructions given to worker(s) who actually cut said timber). Again, however, with only a general verdict form, no one can determine whether penalties were awarded and/or calculated.

Court might find reversible error in the decision(s) of either the trial court or the jury. He certainly cannot establish that the jury's verdict was against the overwhelming weight of the evidence or that any of the trial court's rulings constitute reversible error. Therefore, the Appellee, Dykes Timber Company, Inc., respectfully requests this Court to affirm the judgment of the trial court.